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Fat Oxen 
Urbana 
Private 

c. 1783 

Fat Oxen is a one and half story brick residence, five bays wide 
and two bays deep, laid in Flemish and common bond with one and 
half story brick kitchen addition. 

Beaded chair rails, baseboards, flat paneled shutters in the 
window reveals and paneled interior doors are exhibited on the 
interior of the residence. Each of the four main rooms in the 
main block have back to back corner fireplaces with unusual 
mantels with raised panelled over face design which continues 
down only one side of the fireplace opening. 

The basement area has remained rough and unfinished except for 
the stairway with original plank cellar partitions and sorting 
bins. 

The residence is unusual in its diminutive size, proportions, and 
architectural style in comparison to other residences of the 
eighteenth century in the area. 

As early as 1783, the house may have been owned by Charles Beall, 
of the Beall family, one of the earliest English families to 
settle in the Urbana area. 

By 1808, the house was owned by Captain Thomas Sprigg as indicated 
by the Varle map of that year. 

The house and adjoining properties were resurveyed and the tract 
was named "Hampton" in 1879 when Ann Graham Ross, granddaughter 
of Governer Thomas Johnson gained possession. 
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Fat Oxen is located one-third of a mile northeast of Urbana, Frederick 
County, a quarter-mile off of Maryland Rou.te 355. The structure is 
unpretentious, yet elegantly refined. Constructed of Flemish bond 
brick, the house rises from a knoll one and one-half stories over a high 

/rough stone foundation. The kitchen wing is attached to the south­
east elevation and is also one and one-half stories in height. Both 
the main block and subsidiary wing are unusually deep for a house of 
this scale. The roof rises at a very gradual pitch. Fat Oxen dates 
from the third quarter of the eighteenth century and is basically 
Georgian vernacular in style. 

The house has two double parlors with a partially open center hall and 
is ?ive bays wide and two bays deep. The wing is two bays wide and 
two bc>.ys deep. A high wooC.e~ mid-nineteenth century porch with rail­
ings shaded the two doors on the facade until it was removed in 1976. 
The doorway in the third bay is original. The subsidiary door in t:hs 
fourth bay appears to have been added at a later date. Perhaps this 
doorway was a window at one time. This change would greatly enhance 
the stylistic refinement. Two period doDners grace the roof over the 
facade. A baser-,ent bulkheac_ entnmce is located at the northwest 
corner of the structure. 1·~ost window sash are six-over-six. Central 
enclosed chimneys are found at either end of the house and an extremely 
wide stone chi~ney originally covered the southeast elevation. A more 
modern brick stack now rises through the gable end. 

The rear elevation has been greatly altered throughout the life history 
of the structure. However, the original 18th century door frame and 
nine-over-nine sash remain. 

The interior of Fat Oxen exhibits many alterations, and woodwork from 
every period can be found. However, much of this woodwork is of great 
merit, including beaded chairrails, baseboards, flat panelled shutters 
in the window reveals and interior doors. Each of the four 
main rooms in the main block have back to back interior corner fire­
places. The mantels are rare due to the fact that the raised panelled 
over face design continues down only one side of the fireplace opening. 
This design alternates from the left to right side of the opening, de­
pending upon which direction the opening faces. The chimneys are rare 
in that they are asymmetrically placed along the roof ridge line. This 
arrangement is most evident on the basement level. Only one brick 
hearth remains visible. The period stairway exhibits heavy moulded 
handrails and simple rectangular balusters. A heavy chairrail runs · 
across the stair landing and continues to the second floor level. 

The second floor consists of four extremely simple rooms with windows 
in the gable ends. All original flooring materials are random width 
pine. Some of the flooring has been coveretl with modern materials. 

(SEE CC~TINUATION SHEET NO. 1) 
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The basement area is perhaps one of the few intact period cellars in the 
area. A finished wooden stair descends from under the main stair to 
the dirt floor. Original plank cellar partitions and sorting bins are 
extant in the southeast half of the basement and make this level of 
the structure extremely interesting to the architectural historian and 
archeologist. 
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Fat Oxen has been owned by a long line of distinguished citizens 
of Maryland. As early as 1783, it may have been owned by Charles Beall 
of the Beall family, one of the earliest English families to settle in the 
Urbana area, according to Scharf's History of ·western Maryland. The 
property was then purchased by Captain Thomas Sprigg, a member of another 
English family which settled early in the Frederick area. 

After Sprigg's death, the property was put up for public auction and 
purchased by John McPherson Sr. He arrived in Frederick from Pennsylvania 
in 1781. As a connnissioned lieutenant in the Revolutionary Army, he b2-
came an agent in charge of supply rations for British prisoners. Later, 
he worked as president of the Corr.man Council for the local legislature. 
Scharf states that he was one of the largest manufacturers of iron and 
mvners of real estate in Western Maryland. In his will, :McPherson in­
structed that any income from the property be given to his brother Edward 
but that at his brother's death, the land be given to the child or children 
of his son, John McPherson, Jr. 

In 1879, the house and adjoining properties were resurveyed and the 
tract was named "Hampton." Ann Grahame Ross, daughter of John McPherson, 
Jr., gained possession of the property on which the house was standing at 
this time. Ann Ross was the granddaughter of Governor Thomas Johnson 
and resided at the famous Ross house on Court House Square in Frederick. 
Her father owned and operated Catoctin Furnace for some time and managed 
the Central National Bank. He founded Araby Mills in 1830 and was a 
prominent projector of the National Turnpike from Washington to Wheeling. 

Although, Fat Oxen has always been a farmhouse, its owners have made 
outstanding contributions to the community of Urbana and indeed, Western 
Maryland. 
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